IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

SATYADEV MEKA

APPELLANT

VS.

CAUSE NO.: 2009-CA-01921

GRANT PLUMBING HEATING &
AIR CONDITIONING CO. AND
ALBERT GRUBE

APPELLEES

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF
HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI, FIRST
JUDICIAL DISTRICT

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Oral argument is not requested

OF COUNSEL:

J. ASHLEY OGDEN, ESQ. (MSB [REDACTED])
OGDEN & ASSOCIATES, PLLC
500 East Capitol Street, Suite 3
Jackson, Mississippi 39201
Telephone: (601) 969-0999
Facsimile: (601) 969-0089

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

SATYADEV MEKA

APPELLANT

VS.

CAUSE NO.: 2009-CA-01921

GRANT PLUMBING HEATING &
AIR CONDITIONING CO. AND

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether the trial court erred in allowing the jury to consider an apportionment of fault to the Plaintiff.
2. Whether the trial court erred by allowing Defendant's proposed jury instruction labeled "D-13" (given as Jury Instruction 11) to be given to the jury.
3. Whether the trial court erred in giving two "form of the verdict" jury instructions to the jury.
4. Whether the trial court erred in not allowing the Plaintiff to submit jury instruction P-22 which addressed the Defendant's failure to properly train Grube in safe driving habits after Grube admitted his lack of safe driving training was a cause of the accident.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is an action for damages by Satyadev Meka (hereinafter “Meka”) against defendants Grant Plumbing Heating & Air Conditioning Co. (hereinafter “Grant Plumbing”) and Albert Grube (hereinafter “Grube”) for negligently operating a vehicle and for negligent training among other things, and for causing bodily injury to Meka from an automobile accident which occurred on February 17, 2006.

The trial was held before a jury of twelve (12) commencing on September 14, 2009 and ending on September 16, 2009. The case was submitted to the jury on instructions delivered by the lower court. The jury found in favor of plaintiff Satyadev Meka and awarded him \$100,000.00 in damages but apportioned 40% fault to the plaintiff and 60% fault to the defendant Albert Grube, thereby reducing his damages award to \$60,000.00. In post trial motions, the plaintiff requested a new trial and additur but was denied. Appellant perfects his appeal from the lower court’s judgments.

ARGUMENT

A. The Trial Court Erred by Allowing the Jury to Apportion Fault to the Plaintiff

The trial court erred in allowing the jury to considered apportioning fault to Plaintiff. The trial court erred in allowing the Defendant's jury instruction "D-13" (jury instruction 11) which required the jury to apportion fault to the Plaintiff. Tr. Transcr. 417:14-418:8. Plaintiff objected to the instruction. Tr. Trans. 477-479. Based on this instruction the jury erroneously assigned 40% fault to the Plaintiff. R. 186-187. This instruction did not represent the facts in evidence and was a gross misstatement of the facts in evidence and a misstatement of the law.

1. Defendant Did Not Prove Apportionment of Fault Elements

Apportionment of fault is an affirmative defense that the Defendant has the burden of proving. *Eckman v. Moore*, 876 So. 2d 975, 989 (Miss. 2004). In *Eckman* the court stated, "it is fundamental that the burden of affirmative defenses rests squarely on the shoulders of the one who expects to avoid liability by the defense." *Id.* (citing *Marshall Durbin Co. v. Warren*, 633 So. 2d 1006, 1009 (Miss. 1994)). The Defendant presented no evidence that the Plaintiff acted negligently or that the plaintiff had a duty, breached the duty, and the breached duty caused his injuries. The Defendant presented no fact witness or expert witness testimony that showed Meka was acting unreasonably for the circumstances. The Defendant presented no evidence that the Plaintiff's actions were negligent and contributed to the accident or his injuries. And there was no testimony by anyone that the Plaintiff's acts, if they were negligent, proximately caused his injuries.

In order for the jury to be able to consider apportioning fault to the Plaintiff or any other party, the Defendant must prove (1) negligence by a preponderance of the evidence and (2) also

show that such negligence contributed to the cause of the Plaintiff's injury. *Breaux v. Grand Casinos of Miss*, 854 So. 2d 1093, 1097 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003); *Carpenter v. Nobile*, 620 So.2d 961, 964 (Miss. 1993). Since the Defendant failed to present any evidence that the Plaintiff acted negligently or caused or contributed to his injuries, the jury under the law should not have been required to consider apportioning any percentage of fault to him.

2. Defendant Presented No Evidence of Any Duty by Plaintiff

The trial testimony showed Grube rear-ended witness Koontz and then ran off the road into the safety lane and rear-ended Meka. Tr. Trans. 186:8-19; 341:1-13. No testimony showed plaintiff was under any duty or that the plaintiff acted unreasonably in the operation of his vehicle under the circumstances. Plaintiff presented evidence that Grube, while acting in the scope and course of his employment, negligently rear-ended Meka. Tr. Transcr. 200:24-26. Plaintiff showed that Meka reasonably put on his blinker and reasonably moved his vehicle to the side of I-55.

Q. Would you describe for this jury when Dave [Meka] was slowing, how was he operating his vehicle?

A. When I observed him stopping?

Q. Yes. Before the impact, what did you see when you saw him?

A. As we were coming over the hump, Mr. Meka had put on his brake lights and turn signal, and he had pulled over there again at the end of the retaining wall, but his brake lights did come on and so did his turn signal.

Q. The way he was operating his vehicle, did it cause you any problems?

A. No, it did not.

Q. Were you able to get around him without no problem?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. How would you describe Dave's slowing of his vehicle? Would you describe it as controlled or not controlled?

A. It was controlled.

.....

Q. Did you see his vehicle do anything that was erratic or inappropriate so that you as a driver would say what's going on?

A. No, I did not.

Tr. Transcr. 190:24-191:24

Plaintiff was reasonably out of the flow of traffic and was moving to completely exit before stopping. Koontz, the driver of the vehicle traveling directly behind Meka, stated that he saw the Plaintiff turn on his indicator light and brake and in a controlled manner pull his vehicle to the side of the road. Tr. Transcr. 186:8-12. Meka's passenger also testified Meka was pulling off the road.

My dad felt a cramp, and he started slowing down. We were in the right lane. It was a progressive -- it wasn't a sudden stop. It was progressive. He indicated to pull into the little median thing that merges on the side. I'm not sure what it's called exactly. He had the emergency lights on as well to indicate that he was stopping. Tr. Transcr. 333:4-11.

Koontz stated that he had plenty of time and room to react to Meka's slowing and exiting the road. "He [Meka] had pulled over to the right-hand side right after the little retaining wall where it ends. He had pulled over there. Just a small bit of him was sticking out, so I had time to adjust my speed. I was starting over into the left lane, and that's when I was hit [by defendant Grube] in the passenger rear of my vehicle." Tr. Transcr. 13-19. Meka testified he was able to pull off the road and was almost stopped when he was rear-ended by Grube.

I was driving in my right lane, and I was going at a regular speed with the flow of traffic. And I had some chest pain, a little discomfort in this part of the body. **And I made an indicator on -- the right to the shoulder where that safe zone is in the triangular portion. I kept the signal on very well in advance, and we were almost there. We had stopped almost completely, and somebody hit us from the back.** Tr. Transcr. 341: 2-11.

Witness Koontz stated it was an avoidable accident. Tr. Transcr. 191:9-11. Koontz stated when he was moving to the left to go around Meka's car he was struck from behind by Grube in the Grant Plumbing truck. "I was starting over into the left lane, and that's when I was hit in the

passenger rear of my vehicle.” Tr. Transcr. 186:17-19. After Grube struck Koontz, Grube veered right and struck the Plaintiff who was moving into and almost stopped in the “safety zone” off the side of the road Tr. Transcr. 188:1-4. Grube’s truck struck Meka’s car with such force that Meka’s car flipped and came to rest in the right lane of traffic.

We were almost at a complete stop in the triangle area when we felt the impact of a car hitting us from behind. Now we didn’t know what happened. We felt the impact and then we’re okay for a second, and then the car flipped over. The next thing I know, we’re upside down hanging from our seat belts.
Tr. Transcr. 333:12-19.

Grube had a duty to maintain proper control, maintain proper look out ahead, maintain safe speed, and maintain sufficient distance between his vehicle and vehicles in front of him. *White v. Miller*, 513 So. 2d 600, 602 (Miss. 1987). Grube testified that he saw the vehicles and he could not explain why he hit the vehicles.

Q. Now on the morning of the accident when you were going down the road, did you see any brake lights on the UtiliQuest truck before you struck it?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Yes, sir or no, sir?

A. Yes, sir, I did see brake lights.

Q. When you saw the brake lights, how close were you to the UtiliQuest truck?

A. Probably about five or six car lengths.

Q. All right. And how fast were you traveling when you saw the brake lights?

A. I guess around 60 like you said.

Q. Would you tell me whether or not if you were maintaining a proper lookout?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Will you tell me whether or not if you were maintaining a proper speed?

A. Yes, sir.

.....

Q. Okay. But you still struck the back of the UtiliQuest truck, correct?

A. Yes, sir.

Tr. Transcr. 205:21-206:20.

Q. Do you admit that you struck the back of Mr. Meka's vehicle?

A. Yes, sir.

Tr. Transcr. 209:29-210:2.

Q: So, you were too close. At that point you couldn't stop your vehicle, correct?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: You struck the back of Dave Meka's vehicle correct?

A: the back corner, yes sir.

Q: And what did Dave Meka's vehicle do?

A: Flip.

Tr. Trans. 209:2-10

Q: So, what could you have done to avoid striking the two vehicles? Could you have maintained a farther distance back?

A: I guess if I was farther back, yes, sir it would have helped.

Tr. Trans. 213:28- 214:3

Q: And you were too close and moving too fast to bring your vehicle to a safe stop on I-55, so you struck Mr. Meka's vehicle, correct?

A: Yes sir I did.

Tr. Trans. 220:16-19

Grube admitted he was too close to the vehicles in front of him to stop. Tr. Trans. 209:1-10;

214:1-3. He could not stop and first struck Koontz's truck and then continued forward and struck

Meka's SUV in the dead area (safety zone) causing it to flip over. The responding officer

testified:

When I arrived on the scene.... It [Meka's car] was upside down.
And the plumbing company was on the Frontage Road as you enter
on 55.

Tr. Transcr. 157:26-28

There was no testimony that Meka operated his vehicle negligently. All the testimony established

Meka was attempting to ease out of the right lane of traffic and stop his vehicle in the safety

zone. Tr. Trans. 342:1-20. Meka testified he had not stopped in the middle of the road. Tr. Trans.

373:1-9. The defendant presented no evidence to show Meka was doing anything beyond what a reasonable person would do to exit the road.

3. Defendant Presented No Evidence that Plaintiff Breached Any Duty or Was Negligent.

Witness Koontz said Meka's vehicle was 90% out of the road and in the safety zone. "He did pull over to the right-hand side right after the little retaining wall where it ends. He had pulled over there. Just a small bit of him was sticking out, so I had time to adjust my speed." Tr. Transcr. 186:13-17.

Q. And how much of his car was still in the road as he was trying to get over?

A. I'd say ten percent.

Tr. Transcr. 192:8-10.

Meka testified he was still pulling out of the road and not stopped when struck in the rear by Grube. Tr. Trans.341:1-13. Meka's vehicle was struck by the Grant Plumbing truck while both vehicles were in the safety zone. The jury instruction submitted to the jury said the jury should consider if the plaintiff stopped in the highway when he could get off the road. The testimony showed the plaintiff, had safely left the main roadway and was attempting to stop off the road and in the safety lane when he was struck.

Q. All right. And you were struck from behind. Were you actually sitting in the right lane, or were you half out of the right lane?

Where were you when y'all were struck, if you can remember?

A. **We were in the little triangle where** -- I don't know the name for it, but it's the lane that comes out that merges on to I-55. There's usually a little -- the metal bar that goes on, and there's a triangle right there that indicates that there's another lane coming out there. I don't know how to describe it.

Tr. Transcr. 334:24-335:6.

Q. Did you stop all the way off of the highway, or was part of your vehicle still in the highway?

A. **I was off the highway completely.**

Tr. Transcr. 368:22-25

Evidence was presented that the Plaintiff's actions were reasonable and no one testified that Plaintiff's actions in moving his car to the safety zone was unreasonable or caused his injuries.

Q. Would you concede that this accident was your fault if part of your vehicle was in the road?

A. No.

Q. And the reason being what?

A. **Because I had not stopped in the middle of the road.** I made my intention very clear well in advance, and I had the indicator on. And they had sufficient time for anybody behind me who is following the rules of the road, they could easily stop their vehicle.

Tr. Transcr. 372:28-373:9

Grube admitted if he was maintaining proper control of his vehicle, maintaining proper lookout, maintaining proper speed, and maintaining proper distance, that he should have never made contact with Meka's car. Tr. Trans. 229:20-27.

The evidence does not prove that the plaintiff failed in any duty to properly operate his car when he was struck from behind. The trial court erred in allowing the jury to apportion fault to the plaintiff when no testimony of negligence was presented to support the jury instruction.

4. Defendant Presented No Evidence of Plaintiff Causing or Contributing to His Injuries

The defendant presented no lay or expert witness testimony to contradict the testimony of Meka's witnesses showing the defendant was the sole cause of plaintiff's injuries. Tr. Trans. 386:8. Plaintiff presented undisputed evidence that as a result of the accident Meka suffered a back injury. Meka's treating doctor testified "Dave [Meka] had suffered a ruptured disc of the lumbar spine causing him to have pain in the left leg and neuropathy as a result of the accident

that he suffered on February 4, 2006. That was my evaluation.” Tr. Transcr. 251:9-13. The back injury required a surgery.

I’ve been taking care of him since June of 2007 and seeing him suffering with the pain and finding the ruptured disc seriously affecting his left leg with the sensory function and motor function I believed then, and I believe now that he needs surgery.
Tr. Transcr. 269:17-22.

Meka testified that because of the accident he was unable to work and has suffered lost income and pain and suffering.

Q. Now, Dave, let’s talk a little bit if you don’t mind about work.
Would you like to work right now?

A. Right now I cannot work because of the pain. I can’t work. But if I get better if I definitely get a chance to work, I will definitely work.

Q. And let me state you a year after the accident when Dr. Goel said I think you need the surgery. You haven’t worked since at least a year after the accident, correct?

A. That’s right.

Q. Is that because of the pain, or is that because you can’t find a job?

A. Not because I couldn’t find the job. Just because of the pain.
Tr. Transcr. 352:16-353:2

Dr. Glenda Glover gave undisputed testimony that Meka’s lost wages were around one million dollars. “\$1,359,000.00 would be his total loss for not being able to work.” Tr. Transcr. 304:23-24. The defendant presented no evidence to contradict this. The general rule is that all instructions must be supported by the evidence. Where an instruction is not supported by evidence then it should not be given. *Dennis v. State*, 555 So. 2d 679, 683 (Miss. 1989). Granting instructions not supported by evidence is error. *Lancaster v. State*, 472 So. 2d 363, 365 (Miss. 1985). There was no testimony that presented any negligence against Meka and there was no evidence to contradict Meka’s witness testimony regarding damages. The trial court erred in allowing the jury to consider apportionment of fault.

5. Trial Court Mistakenly Applied Facts of Non-Similar Case for Apportionment

The trial court stated the apportionment issue was being admitted based on the recent decision of, *Solanki v. Ervin*, 21 So. 3d 552 (Miss. 2009). The case *sub judice* is not similar and not on point to *Solanki*. In *Solanki*, the court granted a comparative negligence instruction against the plaintiff when the case was submitted to the jury. The grounds for the instruction were based on the fact that the motorist stopped her car on the highway after it stalled instead of moving over to the median. There was also evidence that she was sitting in the car talking on her cell phone for one minute to one and a half minutes before the accident and that she had plenty of time to exit her vehicle and remove herself from harm's way. The *Solanki* scenario is completely different from Meka who while giving proper signals was moving his vehicle off the road and into the safety zone when he was struck from the rear by Grube. Grube first struck the Koontz truck in the right lane and then while still out of control, left the road and struck Meka who had moved into the safety zone. There was no testimony Meka's actions were unreasonable, so apportionment of fault to Meka was error.

Based on the evidence presented at trial the defendant did not prove the affirmative defense elements of duty, breach, cause, and injury. The court should not have allowed the jury to consider an apportionment of fault to the plaintiff.

B. TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING JURY INSTRUCTION D-13 (C- 11)

Instruction D-13 (given as Jury Instruction 11). (See R.E. 3) incorrectly allows the jury to apportion fault to the plaintiff. The trial court granted instruction D-13. Plaintiff objected to the instruction Tr. Transcr. 477:4-7. The instruction is a misstatement of the law and facts in the

case. Tr. Transcr. 477:10-12. “It was peremptory for the defendant. There’s no evidence in the record to support the conclusion of the instruction. It’s also a composite instruction that was covered by another instruction.” Tr. Transcr. 477:12-17.

The instruction does not allow the jury to consider the defendant’s percentage of fault. The standard is that it’s what a reasonable prudent person would do under the circumstances. And so the state of law is incorrect because it doesn’t have the proper standard in it. It also misleads the jury. It assumes facts not in evidence. It’s cumulative, and it’s an abstract instruction. Tr. Transcr. 477:18-28.

D-13 instructed the jury “ Mississippi law prohibits stopping a vehicle in the paved or main travel portion of a public highway... when it is practical to stop such vehicle off the paved or main traveled portion of the highway.” Tr. Trans. 417:14. It asked the jury to find the plaintiff at fault if they found he was stopped in the road when it was unreasonable to do so. Tr. Trans. 417:21. The proper test to determine a driver’s negligence under the case *sub judice* is “whether he exercised that degree of care and caution which an ordinarily careful and prudent person would exercise under the same or similar circumstances.” *Hankins v. Harvey*, 160 So. 2d 63, 69 (Miss. 1964) (citing 7 Am.Jur.2d 898, Automobiles and Highway Traffic, Sec. 353, and cases cited)). There was no testimony that Meka stopped his vehicle in the road or operated his vehicle in an unreasonable manner. See, *Sprayberry v. Blount*, 336 So. 2d 1289 (Miss. 1976) (Involuntary slowing or stopping a vehicle under an emergency condition does not impose a duty of due care but rather it involves a review of the circumstances. It is unreasonable to require a driver slowing under emergency conditions to anticipate the likelihood of a vehicle approaching from the rear and crashing into the rear of his vehicle). “[A]n instruction charging negligence or contributory negligence must define those acts which would constitute such.” *Trainer v. Gibson*, 360 So. 2d 1226, 1228 (Miss. 1978). The only jury instruction that attempts to define Plaintiff’s

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