IN THE MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS

SATYADEV MEKA

APPELLANT

VS.

CAUSE NO.: 2009-CA-01921

GRANT PLUMBING HEATING & AIR CONDITIONING CO. AND ALBERT GRUBE

APPELLEES

On appeal from the Circuit Court of Hinds County, Mississippi, First Judicial District

BRIEF OF APPELLEES GRANT PLUMBING HEATING & AIR CONDITIONING CO. AND ALBERT GRUBE

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

C. Maison Heidelberg, MB
Ginny Y. Kennedy, MB #
HEIDELBERG HARMON PLLC
795 Woodlands Parkway
Suite 220
Ridgeland, Mississippi 39157
Telephone: (601) 351-3333
Facsimile: (601) 956-2090

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEES

IN THE MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS

SATYADEV MEKA

APPELLANT

VS.

CAUSE NO.: 2009-CA-01921

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

Nevertheless, Meka argues that the jury should not have been instructed on section 63-3-903 because the proper test of negligence was whether Meka "exercised that degree of care and caution which an ordinarily careful and prudent person would exercise under the same or similar circumstances." The Mississippi Supreme Court disagrees:

Moreover, the trial court did give the jury a negligence instruction, which read:

The principle that violation of a statute constitutes negligence per se is so elementary that it does not require citation of authority. When a statute is violated, the injured party is entitled to an instruction that the party violating is guilty of negligence, and if that negligence proximately caused or contributed to the injury, then the injured party is entitled to recover. *Thomas*, 667 So. 2d at 596 (citation omitted).

2. <u>Jury Instruction 11 was warranted by the evidence.</u>

Meka somehow argues that there was no testimony that his vehicle was stopped in the road at the time of the accident. Appellant's brief at 18. Again, Meka himself testified that his vehicle was stopped at the time of the accident. 6 R. 368 (Q. "And I think you've testified that you actually stopped your car all the way before there was any impact, correct?" A. "That's correct."). Further, as Meka himself admits, there was evidence that "a small bit of [his vehicle] was sticking out." Appellant's brief at pp. 11,15. There was also substantial testimony as to the location and positioning of Meka's vehicle. See, e.g., 5 R. 186, 190, 192-95, 219-22; 6 R. 341. This testimony was supported by the physical evidence. See, e.g., P-3-A; 5 R. 226. Accordingly, there was ample evidence to support the giving of Jury Instruction 11. Solanki, 21 So. 3d at 563.

(C) The trial court correctly gave Jury Instructions 19 and 21.

Meka also argues that the trial court erred by giving the jury two contrary jury instructions regarding the form of the verdict. No legal authority is cited in support of

Negligence is the failure to use reasonable care. Reasonable care is that degree of care which a reasonable careful person would use under like or similar circumstances. Negligence may consist either in doing something that a reasonably careful person would not do under like or similar circumstances, or in failing to do something that a reasonably careful person would do under like or similar circumstances.

this argument; thus, it should not be considered. *Shavers v. Shavers*, 982 So. 2d 397, 401 (Miss. 2008) ("This Court consistently has held that an unsupported assignment of error will not be considered. This Court does not have to consider alleged error when no authority is cited for the error in the brief."). Essentially, Meka re-urges his argument that the jury should not have been allowed to apportion fault to him because there was no evidence that he was negligent. Again, Meka ignores evidence, discussed *supra*, that he was stopped in the road in violation of section 63-3-903 of the Mississippi Code.

Further, neither Instruction 19 nor Instruction 21 required the jury to apportion fault against Meka.² Jury Instruction 19 read:

The Court instructs the jury that if you find from a preponderance of the evidence that Plaintiff Satyadeva Meka was negligent and said negligence, if any, was the sole proximate cause of the collision at issue in this case OR that Albert Grube committed no acts of negligence which proximately caused the collision in this case, then you must return a verdict in favor of both Defendants, and the form of your verdict shall be:

"We the jury find in favor of the Defendants Grant Plumbing and Albert Grube."

You must write your verdict on a separate form. It does not need to be signed.

3 R. 422 (emphasis added). Instruction 21 plainly stated that the jury could assign a percentage of fault/negligence, *if any*, against Meka:

If the jury finds by a preponderance of evidence in favor of Plaintiff Satyadev Meka against Albert Grube, please complete this form and return to the court:

I. PERCENTAGE OF FAULT/NEGLIGENCE ASSIGNED, IF ANY:

Notably, Meka does not appeal the giving of Jury Instruction 20, which specifically authorized the jury to apportion fault to Meka. 3 R. 423.

Plaintiff Satyadev Meka

Defendant Albert Grube

% of fault, if any

% of fault, if any

Total Percentage

100%

II. TOTAL DAMAGES, IF ANY YOU FIND:

\$

We, the jury, assess Plaintiff Satyadev Meka's TOTAL damages as

3 R. 425 (emphasis added). These instructions, clearly, did not require the jury to apportion fault against Meka. Moreover, this verdict form is specifically authorized under Rule 49(b) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure. *Rose v. Clenney*, 748 So. 2d 172, 176 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999).

(D) The order of jury instructions did not confuse the jury.

Meka further argues summarily that the trial court erred in giving Jury Instructions 11 and 20 to the jury before Jury Instruction 21 because it confused the jury. Yet the trial court specifically instructed the jury: "The order in which these instructions are given has no significance as to their relative importance." 3 R. 404; see also Davis v. Nelson, 221 Cal. App. 2d 62, 69 (Cal. Ct. App.1963) ("The sequence in which the instructions are given to the jury rests in the sound discretion of the trial court."). Meka provides no legal authority for his claim that the jury instructions were given in an improper order, and he offers no evidentiary support for his claim that the jury was

This issue, as well as the issue of the admissibility of evidence regarding Meka's work authorization, was not included in Meka's "Statement of the Issues." See Miss. R. App. P. 28(a)(3) ("Each issue presented for review shall be separately numbered in the statement. No issue not distinctly identified shall be argued by counsel, except upon request of the court, but the court may, at its option, notice a plain error not identified or distinctly specified.").

confused by the instructions. *Shavers v. Shavers*, 982 So. 2d 397, 401 (Miss. 2008) ("This Court consistently has held that an unsupported assignment of error will not be considered. This Court does not have to consider alleged error when no authority is cited for the error in the brief."); *see also Solanki*, 21 So. 3d at 570 (rejecting argument that the jury was confused by the jury instructions where there was no evidentiary support for such a claim).

Meka again argues that the jury instructions required the jury to assume that Meka was negligent. The Court must review all of the instructions as a whole. *Tedford*, 18 So. 3d at 239. When read together, or even individually, these jury instructions gave the jury the option to apportion fault to Meka, which it did; the jury instructions did not require the jury to find Meka negligent. As was discussed *supra*, Jury Instruction 11 was a correct statement of the law, and it was supported by the evidence. Jury Instructions 20 and 21 are standard jury instructions which *allow* the jury to apportion fault to Meka, if it finds that Meka was negligent, which the jury did; these jury instructions did not require the jury to find that Meka was negligent. *See* Jury Instruction 20 ("If you find . . . that Plaintiff Satyadev Meka was also negligent;" (emphasis added)); Jury Instruction 21 ("I. Percentage of Fault/Negligence Assigned, If *Any*. . . ." (emphasis added)). The jury was appropriately instructed on the law, and its verdict should be affirmed.

(E) The trial court correctly refused to give proposed jury instruction P-22.

Meka also asserts that the trial court erred in refusing to grant proposed jury instruction P-22, which read:

You are instructed that Grant Plumbing Heating & Air Conditioning Co. did not provide any driving safety training to its employee Albert Grube, and did not instruct Albert Grube on safe driving habits while operating a Grant Plumbing Heating & Air Conditioning Co. vehicle.

Therefore, if you find from preponderance of the evidence in this case that Grant Plumbing Heating & Air Conditioning Co.'s failure to not provide any driving safety training to its employee Albert Grube, or failure to not instruct Albert Grube on safe driving habits while operating a Grant Plumbing Heating & Air Conditioning Co. vehicle was the sole proximate cause or proximate contributing cause of Plaintiff's injuries, then your verdict shall be for the Plaintiff.

However, if you believe that the Plaintiff has failed to prove any one of these elements by a preponderance of evidence in this case, then your verdict shall be for the Defendants as to this theory of liability.

3 R 358. The trial court possesses "considerable discretion" in the giving of jury instructions. Young v. Guild, 7 So. 3d 251, 259 (Miss. 2009). A party is entitled to jury instructions that present his theory of the case; however, this entitlement is limited. *Id.* "[T]he trial court may refuse an instruction which incorrectly states the law, is covered fairly elsewhere in the instructions, or is without foundation in the evidence." *Id.*

1. The instruction was peremptory.

First, the trial court correctly refused this instruction because it was peremptory. The standard which applies to a request for a peremptory instruction is the same as the standard for a directed verdict: the trial court must consider the evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmovant, giving him the benefit of all reasonable inferences that may be drawn therefrom; unless the nonmovant's evidence is so lacking that reasonable jurors could not reach a verdict for the nonmovant, the motion must be denied. *Wilner v. Mississippi Export R. Co.*, 546 So. 2d 678, 681 (Miss. 1989).

The proposed jury instruction stated that Grant Plumbing did not provide any driving safety training or instruction to Grube; however, there was evidence that Grube did have a manual which instructed him on safe driving habits. See 5 R. 205 (Q. "How do you know how far to stay back from a vehicle? Where do you get that information?" A. "Driver's book." Q. "Okay. Would it be fair to say just kind of a common understanding that you need to stay far back enough so you can stop?" A. "Yes, sir."). From this testimony, a jury could reasonably conclude that Grant Plumbing had provided Grube with driving safety training; thus, the trial court correctly refused to grant this peremptory instruction.

2. The instruction was without foundation in the evidence.

Further, the proposed jury instruction was not supported by the evidence. The sole evidence of causation relied upon to support the giving of this instruction was Grube's testimony that safety training would have "probably helped." 5 R. 218. This is not sufficient evidence of proximate cause, especially when considered in conjunction with Grube's testimony that safety training would <u>not</u> have prevented the accident:

- Q. Would it be fair to say that if you had taken a safety course, and they told you in the safety course always stay four car lengths back, you could have used that the morning of the wreck?
- A. I was five or six car lengths, so I don't think four would have helped me that day.
- Q. Okay. So, the bottom line is no matter what question I pose to you, your position is that you were far enough back and operating your vehicle in a

way that you could have avoided the accident or avoided contact with those vehicles if you'd wanted to, correct?

A. Yes, sir.

5 R. 219-20. Where, as here, there is no evidence of a nexus between the alleged negligence and damages, it is not reversible error for the trial court to have refused to give an instruction on negligent failure to train. *Mitchell v. Rapid Oil Change, Inc.*, 752 So. 2d 466 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999) (finding no reversible error in failure to give jury instruction on express warranty where owner failed to show some nexus between automotive business' actions and damage to his car).

In addition, "specific evidence of an employer's actual or constructive knowledge of its employee's dangerous or violent tendencies is necessary in order to create a genuine issue of material fact on an improper training . . . theory of liability." *Holmes v. Campbell Properties, Inc.*, 2010 WL 1962479, *7 (Miss. Ct. App. 2010). As Grube's testimony evidences, Grube knew the rules of the road. There was no evidence that Grube had driven dangerously in the past or had dangerous driving tendencies. Accordingly, Meka was not entitled to a failure to train instruction, which was essentially a red herring argument Meka's counsel was attempting to utilize.

The instruction was covered fairly elsewhere in the instructions.

In addition, the jury instructions adequately instructed the jury as to the theory of Meka's case, which was that Grube's and Grant Plumbing's negligence caused his injuries. Jury Instructions 5 and 6 instructed the jury on negligence and proximate cause. Jury Instruction 5 read:

Negligence is the failure to use reasonable care. Reasonable care is that degree of care which a reasonable careful person would use under like or similar circumstances. Negligence may consist either in doing something that a reasonably careful person would not do under like or similar circumstances, or in failing to do something that a reasonably careful person would do under like or similar circumstances.

3 R. 408. Jury Instruction 6 read:

In order to be proximate cause, the negligence of defendant must be a substantial factor in producing plaintiff's injury. If the plaintiff would have been injured even if the defendant had not been negligent, the defendant's negligence is not a substantial factor and not a proximate cause.

3 R. 409.

Again, in analyzing the jury instructions as a whole, "[d]efects in specific instructions will not mandate reversal when all of the instructions, taken as a whole fairly-although not perfectly-announce the applicable primary rules of law." *Young*, 7 So. 3d at 259-60. Where, as here, "other instructions granted adequately instruct the jury, a party may not complain of a refused instruction on appeal." *Id.* at 259.

In Young v. Guild, 7 So. 3d 251 (Miss. 2009), the Mississippi Supreme Court upheld the denial of a jury instruction because the jury instructions, considered in the aggregate, fairly and adequately instructed the jury on the applicable primary rules of law. The court concluded that the jury instructions correctly defined the elements of medical negligence, including the standard of care applicable to Dr. Guild. *Id.* at 260. Further, the court held, any imperfection in the failure to instruct the jury on the *specific* acts alleged to be negligent did not require reversal; the plaintiff's theory of the case was "squarely before the jury." *Id.* at 261. The court further noted that, although the trial court could have provided the jury with more definitive instructions, any error was

harmless because the outcome would have been the same. *Id.* The court stated: "Given the jury instructions that were provided and the clear contrasting theories that were hammered home by the skilled counsel of both litigants, it is clear to this Court that the jury had a firm understanding of the law as it applied to the facts in this case, and it reached a permissible verdict." *Id.*

Similarly, in this case, the jury instructions as a whole fairly instructed the jury on the applicable rules of law. The trial court gave negligence and proximate cause instructions to the jury; any failure to instruct the jury on the specific acts alleged to be negligent does not require reversal. *Young*, 7 So. 3d at 261.

4. Any error in not giving this instruction was harmless.

Even assuming arguendo that the trial court should have given the instruction, any error in not giving instruction P-22 was harmless because it did not affect the outcome of the trial; the jury actually found against Grant Plumbing on the respondeat superior claim. O'Flynn v. Owens-Corning Fiberglass, 759 So. 2d 526, 531 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000) ("The trial court will not be held to have erred unless the complaining party can show that the denial of the instruction probably did cause an improper judgment."). This was the most favorable result that Meka could have received against Grant Plumbing; thus, any alleged error in the jury instructions is moot. Pickering v. Industria Masina I Traktora (IMT), 740 So. 2d 836, 843 (Miss. 1999) (noting that where, as here, the jury found for the complaining party, the trial court did not err by not granting a peremptory instruction).

(F) Evidence regarding Meka's work authorization was admissible.

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